I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY 

Petitioner, Michael Smith, respectfully submits this Petition for 

Review. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Smith seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division 1, 

decision filed in this case on January 21, 2014. Appendix at A1-A7. An 

order denying Mr. Smith's motion for reconsideration was entered on 

March 17, 2014. Appendix at A8. 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Under the Industrial Insurance Act, must the superior court dismiss 

a worker's claim for benefits if he timely files his appeal, but serves notice 

of his appeal one business day late due to severe weather conditions, or, in 

light of new case law, does the superior court have discretion to excuse the 

late service or fashion remedies short of dismissal? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Industrial Insurance Act (Act) outlines Washington's workers' 

compensation system- a remedial statutory benefits program administered 

by the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) and overseen by 

the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board). See RCW 51.04.010, 

51.04.020, 51.52.010. Washington workers gave up their rights to pursue 

civil actions against their employers in exchange for this liberally 



constructed program designed to provide sure and certain relief to all 

workers injured in their employment. See RCW 51.04.010; see also 

Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 

(1987). Workers, however, retained their right to present their case to a 

jury for a decision regarding their benefits claim. RCW 51.52.115. 

On December 21, 2011, Mr. Smith received a Board order denying 

him benefits. CP 151, 172. Believing the Board erred, Mr. Smith sought 

judicial review and a jury trial to establish his right to benefits. Thirty 

days after he received the Board order, on Friday, January 20, 2012, Mr. 

Smith filed a notice of appeal (notice) in superior court. CP 151-159, 176. 

Attached to the notice was a certificate of service, signed by Terri Matson, 

legal assistant to Mr. Smith's attorney; the certificate stated that Ms. 

Matson served the notice to the appropriate parties via U.S. mail on the 

same day. CP 157-158, 179-180. 

On that following Monday, January 23,2012, Mr. Smith served the 

case scheduling order along with a copy of the notice to the Department, 

Board, and Attorney General's Office via U.S. mail. CP 152, 162-164, 

173. This notice was received by all parties. CP 39. 

From this time on, Mr. Smith's case proceeded in due course. In 

mid-February, the Department and employer entered their notices of 

appearance. CP 13-18. Shortly after, on April 10, 2013, Mr. Smith filed 
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his demand for a jury trial. CP 19-21. In early July, Mr. Smith submitted 

his trial materials. CP 22-35. Around this same time, all parties signed 

statements oftrial readiness. CP 36-37. 

Then, just four weeks before trial, the Department filed a motion to 

dismiss under CR 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. CP 38-

46, 201-202. The Department claimed it only received the notice mailed 

with the case scheduling order in an envelope postmarked Monday, 

January 23, 2011. Although the Department quickly withdrew its 12(b)(1) 

argument, conceding that the superior court did have subject matter 

jurisdiction, it argued that when a claimant serves notice more than 30 

days after receiving a Board order all applicable case law holds that the 

superior court has no discretion but to dismiss. Verbatim Report of the 

Proceedings (VRP) 6, 11. 13-25; 7, 11. 1-25; CP 40,199-200. 

The superior court held an evidentiary hearing on August 16, 2012 

to determine when notice was served. CP 209-208, 238-239; and see 

generally VRP. It was made clear that the case was not dropped, 

forgotten, or neglected by Mr. Smith or his attorney's office. CP 151-152, 

154-161, 172-174, 175-183. Rather, the matter was properly calendared, 

filed with the court, and prepared for service. !d. At issue was whether 

Ms. Matson served notice on Friday, January 20, 2012, or whether service 

was not completed until Monday, January 23, 2012. CP 41, 102, 184-185, 
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208-209; VRP 8-71. Ms. Matson, due to the volume of her practice, has no 

independent recollection of this case. CP 172-174. 

Mr. Smith presented evidence that, at this same time, severe snow 

and ice storms hit the region. CP 152, 165-171; VRP 41, ll. 8-16. Mr. 

Smith's lawyer's office remained open and Ms. Matson does not recall the 

snow that week; however, she does not recall the case filing or service at 

all. CP 172-174; VRP 59, ll. 3-6, 18-22. It is undisputed that the storm 

made traveling in the area extremely difficult. CP 152, 165-171. 

From this set of circumstances, the superior court inferred the most 

likely factual scenario: that the delay in service was unintended and likely 

due to bad weather, "when there is a storm in Seattle people want to leave 

the office and I think that's probably what occurred here. I think 

everything was set up probably to get done that day, but ... it wasn't 

completed until Monday."1 VRP 70, 11. 18-23. 

The superior court appeared to recognize the injustice of dismissal, 

"I would find that there [is] substantial compliance. But ... the 

substantial compliance cases simply don't fit here in this analysis." VRP 

1 In its order dismissing Mr. Smith's claim, the superior court did not make a finding of 
fact that the weather affirmatively caused the service delay. CP 239. However, the 
superior court's rational as to why it found that service was delayed can be read into its 
order, "[a ]n oral decision consistent with fmdings and conclusions may be used to 
interpret them[.]" Johnson v. Whitman, 1 Wn. App. 540, 546, 463 P.2d 207 (1969). 
Moreover, according to the court of appeals decision, such a fmding would matter; it held 
that the superior court has no discretion but to dismiss. 
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77, 11. 12-14. The superior court also attempted to make sense of the 

Supreme Court's recent decision in ZDI Gaming, Inc. v. Wash. State 

Gambling Comm 'n, 173 Wn.2d 608, 268 P.3d 929 (2012). The superior 

court asked, "I want to know what the application of ZDI to the factual 

finding that an appeal was not timely [served]. ... It's a remedies issue."2 

VRP 78, 11. 15-20. Ultimately, the superior court agreed with the 

Department that it was bound by case law and had no discretion to fashion 

less severe remedies, "if it's discretionary with the Court I have to say I'm 

very empathetic here with the ... plaintiff. But I don't think that that's the 

authority ofthis court." VRP 77, 11. 7-10. 

Mr. Smith appealed the decision to the Court of Appeals, Division 

1. The court affirmed dismissal and confirmed that the superior court had 

no discretion but to dismiss regardless of the circumstances, stating 

"service must be accomplished within 30 days of the Board's decision and 

order being communicated to the appellant." Appendix (A) at 4 (opinion 

at 4 citing Fay v. Northwest Airlines, Inc., 115Wn.2d 194, 198, 796 P.2d 

412 (1990)). The court of appeals also denied Mr. Smith's motion for 

reconsideration. A at 8. Mr. Smith now petitions this Court for review. 

2 Judge Edick actually stated, "I want to know what the application of ZDI to the factual 
finding that an appeal was not timely filed." VRP 78, 11. 15-20 (emphasis added). 
However, by the context of the dispute it is clear that Judge Edick simply misspoke and 
intended to say "served'' as service was the issue before the superior court and timely 
filing is not contested. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

This petition for review asks whether the superior court has 

discretion to deny the Department's motion to dismiss, a question of law. 

Questions of law, including questions of statutory construction, are 

reviewed de novo. AOL, LLC v. Washington State Dep 't of Revenue, 149 

Wn. App. 533, 541-42, 205 P.3d 159, 163 (2009) (citations omitted). This 

Court will grant review if the court of appeals decision is in conflict with a 

decision of this Court, is in conflict with another decision of the court of 

appeals, or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2), (3). 

A. Review should be Granted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) 
because the Decision Below Conflicts with the Decisions in ZDI, 
Dougherty, MHM&F, and it Broadens the Decision of Fay 

The superior court found that Mr. Smith served his notice 33 days 

after receiving the Board's decision. CP 238-239. The court of appeals 

held that the superior court had no discretion but to dismiss Mr. Smith's 

claim for benefits because he failed to follow the Act's statutory 

procedures. A at 1, 4. This holding is contrary to the holdings of 

Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 150 Wn.2d 310, 76 P.3d 1183 

(2003); ZDI Gaming, Inc., 173 Wn.2d 608; MHM&F LLC v. Pryor, 168 

Wn. App. 451, 277 P.3d 62 (2012), and it inappropriately broadens the 

Court's holding of Fay, 115 Wn.2d 194. 
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Whether the language of the Act requires a superior court with 

jurisdiction to dismiss a claim for benefits when the claimant serves notice 

post 30 days, presents a question of first impression. Although similarly 

situated cases have been dismissed for failing to invoke the court's subject 

matter jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction is not at issue. Jurisdiction 

aside, the Act on its face and applicable case law does not require 

dismissal for statutory procedural errors. See RCW 51.52.11 0, see also 

Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 319. Mr. Smith committed a minor procedural 

service error that can be remedied or excused, dismissal is not required. 

1. The Court's holding in Fay is limited to a jurisdictional 
analysis 

The Court requires dismissal when a claimant fails to invoke the 

court's subject matter jurisdiction. The Court in Fay held that a claimant 

must serve notice of his appeal within 30 days to invoke the court's 

subject matter jurisdiction. Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198; see also Petta v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 68 Wn. App. 406, 408-410, 842 P.2d 1006 

(1992) (holding the superior court erred when it denied the Department's 

motion to dismiss because the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction due 

to the claimant's failure to timely serve); see also Hernandez v. Dep 't of 

Labor & Indus., 107 Wn. App. 190, 195-198, 26 P.3d 977 (2001) (holding 

the claimant's petition was properly dismissed for lack of subject matter 
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jurisdiction because the claimant failed to both file and serve her appeal 

within 30 days). 

Here, although the court of appeals carefully crafts an argument for 

dismissal without referencing the superior court's jurisdiction, it continues 

to rely upon Fay. Reliance on Fay to uphold dismissal for a procedural 

error outside of a jurisdictional context inappropriately broadens the 

Court's holding. 

The Court in Fay did not interpret the remedies for failing to 

strictly comply with the statutory procedural requirements of RCW 

51.52.11 0, or the superior court's discretion to excuse statutory procedural 

errors. When examining the text of the statute, the Court recognized that 

the Act, on its face, did not require dismissal when a claimant serves 30 

days after receiving a Board decision. "The perfection provision [of RCW 

51.52.11 0] does not explicitly provide that a party must both file and serve 

within a specific time." Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198 (citations omitted). 

Instead, Fay echoed past cases holding that compliance with statutory 

procedures was required to invoke the court's subject matter jurisdiction, 

"cases interpreting RCW 51.52.110 hold that in order to invoke the 

jurisdiction of the superior court an appealing party must file and serve 

notice within the 30-day appeal period." !d. Thus, jurisdiction aside, Fay 

does not stand for the proposition that the Act requires automatic dismissal 
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when a claimant serves notice more than 30 days after receiving the 

Board's order. 

2. The Dougherty Court's statutory interpretation is 
controlling and it allowed a claim to proceed despite a 
procedural error 

Absent a jurisdictional bar, the Court holds that failure to strictly 

adhere to the statutory procedures does not require dismissal. See 

Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 319. In Dougherty, the claimant failed to adhere 

to the Act's statutory procedure when he filed his appeal in the county 

where his attorney resided. !d. at 313, 316-319. According to the Act: 

[A ]n appeal to the superior court shall be to the superior 
court of the county of residence of the worker . . . the 
superior court of the county wherein the injury occurred or 
where neither the county of residence not the county 
wherein the injury occurred are in the state of Washington 
then the appeal may be directed to the superior court for 
Thurston county. 

RCW 51.52.110 (emphasis added). 

The dissent in Dougherty argued that the claim should have been 

dismissed because "to perfect an appeal, the worker 'shall' file an appeal 

in the superior court of one of three possible counties[.] ... [T]he statute is 

also unambiguous that fulfillment of its requirements is mandatory." 

Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 323 (Fairhurst, J., dissenting). Yet, the 

Dougherty Court held, "RCW 51.52.110's requirements regarding location 

relate to venue, not jurisdiction[,]" and it, "decline[d] to read RCW 
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51.52.110 as requiring dismissal of Dougherty's otherwise timely filing." 

!d. at 313, 319 (emphasis added). Instead of dismissing the claim for 

failing to perfect his appeal, the Court remanded the claim for trial. !d. at 

320. Here, the Court should apply the Dougherty Court's interpretation 

that the Act does not require dismissal and confirm that, despite 

procedural errors, courts have discretion to allow claims to proceed in a 

timely filed appeal. 

3. In light of ZDI and MHM&F, Fay is no longer good law to 
the extent it mandates dismissal 

Dougherty did not expressly overrule Fay. Instead, the Court's 

decision in ZDI and the court of appeals decision in MHM&F tugged the 

last thread holding the Fay line of cases as viable. To the extent that Fay's 

holding requires a claimant to file and serve her notice of appeal within 30 

days to avail herself of the superior court's jurisdiction, Fay has been 

overruled by ZDI as acknowledged by the court of appeals in MHM&F. 

As a matter of construction, when there is conflicting case law, the Court's 

more recent pronouncement on the subject should control. Matsyuk v. 

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 173 Wn.2d 643, 659, 272 P.3d 802, (2012) 

(citing Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 264, 280, 208 

P.3d 1092 (2009) (observing "[a] later holding overrules a prior holding 

sub silentio when it directly contradicts the earlier rule oflaw")). 

10 



The Court in ZDI explained that "the existence of subject matter 

jurisdiction is a matter of law and does not depend on procedural rules." 

ZDI Gaming, Inc., 173 Wn.2d at 616-617. The Court observed that 

legislation cannot encroach upon the court's constitutional powers and that 

courts have rejected the principle that all statutory procedural 

requirements of superior court review are jurisdictional. !d. 

Citing to ZDI, the court of appeals explained, "[ o ]ur Supreme 

Court ... has overruled precedents that erroneously classify the superior 

court's jurisdiction as statutory." MHM&F LLC, 168 Wn. App. at 459 

(citations omitted). "Thus, it is incorrect to say that the court acquires 

subject matter jurisdiction from an action taken by a party or that it loses 

subject matter jurisdiction as the result of a party's failure to act." !d. at 

460 (citations omitted). 

In MHM&F, a landlord did not comply with statutory procedures 

when, on his summons, he failed to include a street address for service or a 

facsimile number for his attorney and he failed to include a necessary 

party. MHM&F LLC, 168 Wn. App. at 458. The court of appeals 

acknowledged that under prior case law such procedural failures would 

likely have resulted in dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. !d. 

at 459. However, the court found that such cases were incorrectly 

reasoned because the superior court indeed has subject matter jurisdiction 
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over the type of controversy at issue - title or possession of real property. 

!d. at 459-460. 

Therefore, the alleged errors went to statutory interpretation and to 

matters of procedure. !d. at 460. Had these issues been timely brought 

before the superior court, it could have determined whether failure to 

strictly follow the statute required that the action be dismissed. !d. at 460. 

As acknowledged in MHM&F, ZDI overruled outmoded precedent 

elevating procedural requirements to a jurisdictional imperative. This 

should include cases such as Fay. The Court's decision in Fay did not 

make a statutory interpretation of available remedies when a claimant 

failed to comply with RCW 51.52.11 0. There were no remedies to 

consider because the superior court lacked jurisdiction. Fay does not 

support mandatory dismissal outside of a jurisdictional analysis and the 

Court made no such holding. 

Here, the superior court has subject matter jurisdiction.3 Being so, 

Fay is not applicable. Rather, Mr. Smith's alleged errors go to statutory 

interpretation - the question is whether the Act requires that the action be 

3 Based on the Court's reasoning in ZDI the Department agreed that superior court has 
jurisdiction. See VRP 6, ll. 13-25; 7, ll. 1-25. Moreover, determining whether the 
Department and Board correctly determined benefit entitlements is the type of 
controversy that a superior court acting in its appellate capacity is empowered to resolve. 
See Sprint Spectrum, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, 156 Wn. App. 949, 965, 235 P.3d 849 
(2010) (Becker, J., concurring, noting that "[w]ithout question, determining whether or 
not the Department of Revenue assessed taxes correctly is a type of controversy a 
superior court acting in its appellate capacity is empowered to resolve.") 
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dismissed due to a minor and excusable procedural error. The Court in 

Dougherty answered this question when it interpreted RCW 51.52.110 as 

allowing a procedurally defective appeal to be remedied and to proceed. 

Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 319-320. 

In light of ZDI and MHM&F, the Court's holding in Dougherty 

cannot be narrowly read as applying only to venue. Rather, venue 

selection and service are both statutory procedures under the Act, and the 

Court's statutory interpretation in Dougherty controlls. See Medcalf v. 

State Dep't a/Licensing, 133 Wn.2d 290, 300-301, 944 P.2d 1014 (1997) 

(holding "[ w ]hen the same word or words are used in different party of the 

same statute, it is presumed that the words of the enactment are intended 

to have same meaning."); see also Johnson v. Morris, 87 Wn.2d 922, 927, 

557 P.2d 1299 (1976) (holding "[i]t is a fundamental rule of statutory 

construction that once a statute has been construed by the highest court of 

the State, that construction operates as if it were originally written into 

it."). 

In Dougherty, the Court found that the Act, specifically RCW 

51.52.11 0, did not require dismissal for a statutory procedural error and 

remanded the case to superior court, despite use of the term "shall." 

Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 320. Yet, here, the court below mirrored 

Dougherty's dissent when it held that the superior court had no discretion 
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but to dismiss because ''use of the word 'shall' in describing the 

appellant's duty to perfect the appeal imposes a mandatory obligation to 

serve the notice of appeal ... with the 30-day time limit." A at 5. This 

holding conflicts with the Court's holding in Dougherty and creates 

inconsistent interpretations within the statute. 

4. Holding that a procedural service error requires dismissal, 
but a procedural venue error does not, creates 
inconsistency within the Act 

To challenge a Board decision a claimant must 1) file a notice of 

appeal in superior court, 2) in one of three specified counties, and 3) serve 

his notice of appeal to appropriate parties. RCW 51.52.11 0. As it stands, 

failure to follow the statutory venue requirement does not require 

dismissal, but failure follow the statutory service requirement within 30 

days does require dismissal.4 This Court should take this opportunity to 

clarify this inconsistency. 

5. The Act was uniquely formed to address the needs of 
injured workers and its service requirement is not 
analogous with the AP A 

4 The statute's filing requirement is not at issue here. However, of these three 
requirements, the statute, on its face, only states that filing must be accomplished within 
30 days to avoid dismissal, "[i]f such worker ... fails to file with the superior court its 
appeal as provided in this section within said thirty days, the decision of the board ... 
shall become final." RCW 51.52.110 (emphasis added). Nonetheless, even late filing 
has been excused. See Graves v. Vaagen Brothers Lumber, Inc., 55 Wn. App. 908, 909, 
913, 781 P.2d 895 (1989) (the court found substantial compliance and allowed the claim 
to proceed, even though not properly filed within 30 days).

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