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

IV. ARGUMENT 

As decided by this Court, RCW 51.52.110 requires a party to both 

file and serve a notice of appeal within 30 days of communication of the 

Board's order. Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198-201. Smith does not dispute that 

he did not comply with RCW 51.52.11 0. He argues that because RCW 

51.52.110's requirements are not a matter of subject matter jurisdiction, 

the superior court had discretion to ignore them. Although he claims 

review is warranted under RAP 13 .4(b )(1) and (b )(2), none of the cases he 

cites stands for the proposition that a superior court is free to ignore the 

Legislature's directives about requiring a filing and service deadline. 

Indeed, case law establishes that such a directive must be followed. 

Likewise, his neglect in complying with the statute's requirements 

presents no issue of public interest. 
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This Court has developed two doctrines that allow a party, in the 

correct case, to argue he or she should be allowed to proceed in a case 

with defects in filing and service: substantial compliance and equitable 

tolling. Smith meets neither test, and his backdoor attempt to circumvent 

these requirements does not present an issue for review. 

A. Requiring a Party to Comply with Statutory Requirements 
Does Not Conflict with ZDI Gaming, Dougherty, MHM&F, or 
Fay 

1. ZDI Gaming, Dougherty, and MHM&F Do Not Hold 
That Just Because a Requirement Is Not a 
Jurisdictional One, It Does Not Need To Be Followed 

Contrary to Smith's arguments, the Court of Appeals' unpublished 

decision, which held that the Legislature imposed a mandatory timeliness 

requirement for service in RCW 51.52.11 0, does not conflict with ZDI 

Gaming, Inc. v. Washington State Gambling Commission, 173 Wn.2d 608, 

268 P.3d 929 (2012), Dougherty v. Department of Labor & Industries, 150 

Wn.2d 310, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003), or MHM&F LLC v. Pryor, 168 Wn. 

App. 451, 277 P.3d 52 (2012). Smith argues that review should be 

granted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) because he claims that the Court of 

Appeals' holding that dismissal was required because he failed to follow 

the "Act's statutory procedures" conflicts with ZDI Gaming, Dougherty, 

and MHM&F. Pet. at 6. Smith's theory is that deadlines imposed by the 
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Legislature are not mandatory because they are not a matter of subject 

matter jurisdiction. But none of these cases so hold. 

It is correct that under ZDI Gaming, Dougherty, and MHM&F, the 

existence of subject matter jurisdiction does not depend on compliance 

with procedural rules. ZDI Gaming, 173 Wn.2d at 617; Dougherty, 150 

Wn.2d at 316-17; MHM&F, 168 Wn. App. 459-61.2 The critical 

component in determining subject matter jurisdiction is whether the court 

has the authority to hear the "type of controversy" before it. Dougherty, 

150 Wn.2d at 316. No one disputes that the superior court has the 

authority to consider appeals of Board decisions in workers' compensation 

appeals. 

But Smith has confused the concept of jurisdiction with statutory 

deadlines for filing appeals of administrative decisions. He assumes that 

just because a court has subject matter jurisdiction, it can then ignore 

statutory requirements. To the contrary, the Legislature can specify what 

conditions it wants an appellant to satisfy to perfect an administrative 

appeal, and the superior court follows such standards not because of 

2 It should be noted that ZDI Gaming did not deal with a statute that related 
solely to the superior court's appellate jurisdiction as is the case here. ZDI Gaming dealt 
with RCW 9.46.095, which applied to both original actions fried in superior court and the 
superior court acting in its appellate capacity in reviewing administrative decisions. See 
RCW 9.46.095. ZDI recognized that a party could fail to invoke the court's appellate 
jurisdiction and thus not have a court review the administrative decision. See ZDI 
Gaming, 173 Wn.2d at 625. "Because an appeal from an administrative body invokes the 
superior court's appellate jurisdiction, all statutory requirements must be met before 
jurisdiction is properly invoked." I d. at 625 (citations omitted). 
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jurisdictional concerns, but because they are the law. Otherwise, there 

would be no filing and service deadlines, no statutes of limitations, and no 

governance of appeals from administrative orders. 

The Legislature may specify the conditions necessary to perfect an 

appeal, and, in many contexts, the Legislature shapes a party's ability to 

bring an action. For example, the courts routinely apply statutes of 

limitations. E.g., O'Neil v. Estate of Murtha, 89 Wn. App. 67, 73, 947 

P .2d 1252 ( 1997) (statute of limitations is a legislative policy to shield 

defendants and the judicial system from stale claims). The Legislature 

may require claims to be filed in certain actions with the government 

agencies before commencing suit. E.g., RCW 4.92.1 00; RCW 4.96.020; 

Medina v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Benton Cnty., 147 Wn.2d 303, 310, 53 

P.3d 993 (2002). The Legislature may also require taxpayers to pay the 

full amount of an assessment before bringing a challenge, and the courts 

apply such a requirement. E.g., RCW 82.32.150; Kirkland v. Dep 't of 

Revenue, 45 Wn. App. 720, 723, 727 P.2d 254 (1986). Smith provides no 

authority, and we are aware of none, that the Legislature cannot require 

certain prerequisites to appeal of an administrative order. 
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2. Holding That the Legislature May Require a Filing and 
Service Deadline Is Consistent With Fay 

Under RCW 51.52.11 0, an appealing party has thirty days from the 

date of receipt of the Board's final decision and order to file an appeal in 

superior court. The statute provides that "[s]uch appeal shall be perfected 

by filing with the clerk of the court a notice of appeal and by serving a 

copy thereof by mail, or personally, on the director and on the board." 

RCW 51.52.110 (emphasis added). In RCW 51.52.110, the Legislature 

has decided the timeliness requirements to perfect an appeal from a Board 

decision to superior court in a workers' compensation appeal. Smith does 

not dispute that there is a 30-day deadline to file and serve his appeal in 

his petition. 

Smith also does not dispute that he did not serve a copy of his 

notice of appeal within the 30 day deadline established by RCW 

51.52.110. CP 67, 69, 75, 87. This statute requires such service to perfect 

an appeal: "Such appeal shall be perfected ... by serving a copy ... on 

the director and on the board." The Court of Appeals concluded that the 

use of the word "'shall' in describing the appellant's duty to perfect the 

appeal imposes a mandatory obligation to serve the notice of appeal on the 

Board and the Department within the 30-day time limit." Slip. op. at 5. 

Not only does this holding not conflict with any decision of the Supreme 
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Court or Court of Appeals, it is consistent with Washington Supreme 

Court authority. In Fay, the Court interpreted the statute at issue here and 

held that service must be accomplished within 30 days of the Board's 

decision and order being communicated to the appellant. Fay, 115 Wn.2d 

at 198-201. Smith argues that Fay is limited to a "jurisdictional context" 

and the holding cannot be "broaden[ ed)" Pet. at 8. But he ignores that the 

Fay decision was not limited to the jurisdictional context. Rather the 

Court examined the statute to determine whether RCW 51.52.110 required 

timely service and it concluded that the worker had "failed to satisfy the 

requirements of the appeal statute when she neglected to serve notice upon 

the Director ofthe Department within the required time period." Fay, 115 

Wn.2d at 201 (emphasis omitted). Smith quotes Fay for the proposition 

that "' [t]he perfection provision [of RCW 51.52.11 0) does not explicitly 

provide that a party must both file and serve within a specific time."' Pet. 

at 8 (quoting Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198). Fay, however, considered the 

legislative history of the statute, including a 1982 statutory amendment, 

and concluded that "[w]e hold that the amendment did not alter the 

requirement that an aggrieved party both file and serve a notice of appeal 

within 30 days of receiving notice of the Board's decision." Fay, 115 

Wn.2d at 200. 
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Fay was first and foremost interpreting statutory language in 

determining whether service was required to perfect an appeal, and 

interpretation of the statute in terms of whether service is required does 

not depend on whether one dismisses for lack of jurisdiction or not. 

Although Fay, consistent with contemporaneous terminology by the 

courts, dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, the same result applies here 

because the statutory requirement for perfecting an appeal remains, and as 

the Court of Appeals held, failing to perfect the appeal requires dismissal 

on statutory, not jurisdictional grounds. The Court of Appeals properly 

relied on Fay for the proposition that service must be accomplished within 

30 days ofthe Board's decision. Slip op. at 4. 

3. Dougherty Does Not Hold That Filing and Service 
Deadlines Are Optional 

Contrary to Smith's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision does 

not conflict with Dougherty, which addressed a question of venue, not 

· service requirements. See Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 313. Smith argues 

that this Court in Dougherty "has already determined that the Act does not 

require dismissal of a claimant's otherwise timely filing." Pet. at 19, 9-10. 

Smith asserts that Dougherty stands for the proposition that if an appeal is 

timely filed, the court has discretion to allow parties to proceed "despite 

procedural errors." Pet. at 1 0, 13. Smith overstates the scope of 
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Dougherty. Dougherty did not address or purport to say that failure to 

comply with the statutory filing and service perfection requirements of 

RCW 51.52.11 0 do not merit dismissal. In Dougherty, there was no issue 

that the party had not timely filed and served his appeal, rather he filed in 

the wrong county. The narrow question before the Supreme Court in 

Dougherty was "whether RCW 51.52.110's designation of the proper 

county for filing workers' compensation appeals is a grant of jurisdiction 

or whether it identifies venue." Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 313 (emphasis 

added). 

The Dougherty Court noted that RCW 51.52.110 both "establishes 

the appellate jurisdiction of the superior courts and . . . designates the 

proper venue for those appeals." !d. at 316. Specifically, the language in 

RCW 51.52.110 stating that a worker or aggrieved party "may appeal to 

superior court" established the superior courts' appellate jurisdiction while 

RCW 51.52.11 O's reference to "the location of the superior courts where 

the appeals are to be heard" designated venue. Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 

316-17. Thus, the Court held that "RCW 51.52.110's requirements 

regarding location relate to venue, not jurisdiction." !d. at 313. The cure 

then for filing in the wrong county is to transfer venue. Id. at 320. 

No similar cure exists for late service, however. The Legislature 

specifically provided in RCW 51.52.110 that an appeal is not perfected 
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until the appellant files a notice of appeal in superior court and serves the 

director and Board. As Petta recognized, allowing an appellant to serve a 

notice of appeal late would render RCW 51.52.11 0' s language 

meaningless. Petta v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 68 Wn. App. 406, 411, 

842 P .2d 1006 (1992). Conversely, allowing a party to cure a venue error 

by transferring the case to the proper venue does not render the venue 

requirement meaningless, since the statute still has the effect of mandating 

that the case actually be heard in the correct venue. 

RCW 51.52.110 contains mandatory language requiring a party tci 

perfect his or her appeal by serving a party within the time limit. The 

Court of Appeals held that RCW 51.52.110's mandatory language that a 

party "shall" perfect an appeal by serving the Director and the Board 

"imposes a mandatory obligation to serve the notice of appeal .... within 

the 30-day time limit." Slip op. at 5. Smith argues this conflicts with 

Dougherty because in Dougherty the statutory language related to the 

location of venue involved the word "shall." Pet. at 13-14. He argues that 

it is inconsistent to require dismissal for failure to serve parties but not for 

failure to file in the correct county. Pet. at 14. But the venue requirement 

is not included in the sentence that specifies how an appeal is perfected: 

"[ s ]uch appeal shall be perfected ... by serving a copy ... on the director 

and on the board." RCW 51.52.110. It is service that is included. 
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Contrary to Smith's argument, the Dougherty opinion nowhere states that 

"shall" is permissive with respect to the requirement to file and serve an 

appeal within thirty days. 150 Wn.2d 310. Although Dougherty 

concluded that dismissal of the appeal was not warranted in that case, it 

did not do so based on the notion that the statute's use of the word "shall" 

was merely permissive. Rather, it concluded that although the statute 

requires that an appeal be filed in a given county, the requirement is one of 

venue rather than jurisdiction. Dougherty, 150 Wn.2d at 316-17. 

4. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With 
Sprint Spectrum 

Not only does the Court of Appeals case not conflict with Supreme 

Court authority, it is consistent with Court of Appeals case law. See 

Sprint Spectrum, LP v. Dep 't of Revenue, 156 Wn. App. 949, 235 P.3d 849 

(20 1 0). Sprint Spectrum addressed an appeal from the Board of Tax 

Appeals, where the statute stated that a copy of the appeal shall be served 

on the Board of Tax Appeals, and the Court held that the failure to serve 

the Board of Tax Appeals warranted dismissal. !d. at 953-54. 

Here the court properly dismissed Smith's case because, like the 

party in Sprint Spectrum, "the failure to comply with [the statute's] terms 

for service of a copy of the petition required dismissal of the petition." 

Sprint Spectrum, 156 Wn. App. at 953. Smith posits Sprint Spectrum did 
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not reach the issue of "remedies." Pet. at 16. But the Sprint Spectrum 

Court necessarily had before it the question of whether dismissal is the 

proper remedy when a tribunal has subject matter jurisdiction over the 

case but the appellant failed to follow the service requirements of the 

relevant statute, as the Sprint Spectrum court was reviewing the trial 

court's decision to dismiss the appeal based on the failure to follow the 

statutory service requirements. 156 Wn. App. at 952-53. The Court 

concluded that, under the plain language of the statute, dismissal was 

warranted when a party failed to comply with the service requirements of 

the statute. Sprint Spectrum, 156 Wn. App. at 961, 963. Although it did 

not expressly discuss whether a court has "discretion" to overlook a 

party's failure to comply with the service requirements of a statute, Sprint 

Spectrum's holding logically precludes the possibility that a court could 

decide, on a discretionary basis, to allow the appeal to go forward: the 

appeal could go forward only by ignoring the appellant's failure to comply 

with the statute. Smith cites no authority for the notion that the courts 

have the discretion to ignore statutory requirements for filing and serving 

appeals. 

Because Sprint Spectrum involves the failure to follow statutory 

guidelines and serve an entity named in the statute, the Court of Appeals 

properly applied it here. Smith incorrectly argues that Sprint Spectrum 
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should not be followed because it was a case under the Administrative 

Procedure Act. Pet. at 15. It is correct that the statutes are different. But 

both require filing and service within 30 days after issuance of the final 

agency order. RCW 51.52.110; RCW 34.05.542; Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198 

(service of notice of appeal required 30 days from date order is 

communicated to the worker). Failure to follow the service requirements 

dictated by the Legislature necessitates dismissal. 

Following this rule effectuates the Legislature's intent under the 

unambiguous terms of RCW 51.52.110. Smith argues that it is 

inconsistent with the rule of liberal construction in workers' compensation 

cases to order dismissal. Pet. at 15-16. The Court in Sprint Spectrum 

considered and rejected this precise argument when it considered whether 

liberal construction applied to a service deadline, and correctly concluded 

that it did not when faced with unambiguous statutory requirements. 156 

Wn. App. at 963. Similarly, this Court has no reason to apply liberal 

construction when faced with an unambiguous requirement. See Harris v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993) (the 

liberal construction rule does not apply to unambiguous terms in the 

Industrial Insurance Act); Fay, 115 Wn.2d at 198-201 (interpreting RCW 
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51.52.110 to require service within 30 days of the Board's decision and 

order being communicated to the appellant).3 

B. Requiring a Party to Follow a Statutory Directive Does Not 
Create an Issue of Substantial Public Interest 

No issue of public interest is created by one party's failure to 

follow statutory directives. Smith argues that he "committed a minor

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